
 
 
 

 

Electoral 
Provisions Sub -

Committee  
 

 
 

 

    
 
 

       A meeting of the above Sub-Committee will be held on 
 

Wednesday 20 November 2013 
 

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

Councillor A Wells (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam(Vice-Chairman) 

Councillor P J Cannon 
Councillor K M Kelly 
Councillor G T Prout  
Councillor B E Read 
Councillor D Swinerd 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE  
 

Wednesday 20 November 2013  
 

A G E N D A 
  

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interests   

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
term(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.  
 

 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2011 (Pages 1 - 8)  

 To note and agree the minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 
2011.  
 

 

4. Urgent Items   

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.  
 

 

5. Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2013 (Pages 9 - 20)  

 To report the outcome of the light touch annual review of Polling 
Districts and Polling Places 2013.  
 

 

6. Individual Electoral Registration (Pages 21 - 28)  

 To brief the Sub-committee on the background to the introduction of 
Individual Electoral Registration and the implications for the Council 
of having a new system for electoral registration. 
  
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee held on 
Monday 12 September 2011. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor Anthony Wells (Chairman) 
Councillor Chris Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Peter John Cannon 
Councillor Keith Martin Kelly 
Councillor Bryan E Read 
Councillor Drew Swinerd 
Councillor Matt J Bryant (present as a substitute for Councillor 
Prout) 
 

 
ABSENT:  
 

Councillor Geoffrey T Prout 
 

 
 Dartford Borough Council Officers: - 

 
 Graham Harris 

Alan Twyman 
April Leask 
Irene Stapley 

– Managing Director 
– Member Services Manager 
– Electoral Services Manager 
– Electoral Services Officer 

 
 

8. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Prout. Councillor M 
Bryant attended as a substitute for Councillor Prout. 
 

9. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
Councillor A Wells declared a personal interest in Agenda item 6, Response 
to the Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2011 and Proposals for 
Agreement by the General Assembly of the Council, as he is a Governor of 
West Hill Primary School which is used as a polling station. 
 
Councillor B E Read declared a personal interest in Agenda item 6, Response 
to the Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2011 and Proposals for 
Agreement by the General Assembly of the Council, as he is a member of 
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council and the Town Hall is used as a 
polling station.  
 
Councillor K M Kelly declared a personal and prejudicial interest in Agenda 
item 6, Response to the Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2011 
and Proposals for Agreement by the General Assembly of the Council, in 
relation to the discussion of proposals affecting Ingress Park as he is a 
Director of Ingress Park (Greenhithe) Management Limited and a resident of 
Ingress Park. 
 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2011 
 
 

2 

10. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1 AUGUST 2011  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Sub-committee held on 1 August 2011 be 
agreed as a correct record. 
 

11. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

12. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES, IF ANY  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

13. RESPONSE TO THE CONSULTATION EXERCISE ON THE REVIEW OF 
POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2011 AND PROPO SALS 
FOR AGREEMENT BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCI L  
 
The Member Services Manager reminded Members that the Council was 
required to carry out a full review of its Polling Districts and Polling Places 
every 4 years and that the latest review had to be completed by 31 December 
2011 but was being carried out in time for any changes to be introduced when 
the annual Register of Electors was published on 1st December 2011. 
Attention was drawn to the requirements of the review, the stages of the 
process and the timetable for completion.  
 
The Sub-committee had considered the existing arrangements for Polling 
Districts and Polling Places at its meeting on 1 August 2011 and had broadly 
supported the Returning Officer’s initial recommendations that no changes 
were needed given the Council’s practice of reviewing its arrangements 
annually and the lack of problems encountered with the existing locations. 
However the Sub-committee had asked for consideration to be given to 
alternative options in three polling districts: 
 
DA – Greenhithe Polling District 

1. No Change. Mobile unit based at Eagles Road car park. 
2. Retaining the mobile unit at Eagles Road car park and locating an 
additional mobile polling station in Ingress Park – possibly along the river 
walkway. This would involve dividing the polling district into two new polling 
districts with the divide running along The Avenue. 
3. Retaining the mobile unit at Eagles Road car park and locating an 
additional polling station at the British Legion Club, London Road to serve 
electors from Greenhithe Polling District. This would also involve splitting the 
polling district into two districts. 

DB – Knockhall Polling District 

1. No Change. Retaining a polling station at the British Legion Club, London 

Agenda Item 3 Page 2



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2011 
 
 

3 

Road. 
2. Moving the polling station from the British Legion Club, London Road to the 
Greenhithe Community Centre. 
3. If option 3 of the options for Greenhithe Polling District is adopted, locate 
two polling stations at the British Legion Club, London Road. One polling 
station would serve part of Greenhithe and the other Knockhall. 

GB- Summerhouse Polling District 

1. No Change 
2. Providing an additional mobile polling station at Stonehill Woods Park. This 
would mean dividing the polling district into two districts. 

These options had been incorporated along with the Returning Officer’s 
proposals into the document issued for public consultation immediately after 
the meeting. The Sub-committee was reminded of the steps taken to give 
notice of the consultation exercise which closed on 31 August and the 
organisations consulted as part of the exercise, including the political parties, 
the local MP, Councillors and organisations with expertise in terms of 
accessibility for disabled people. 

RESPONSES TO THE PUBLIC CONSULTATION EXERCISE 

The Sub-committee was advised that six responses had been received by the 
end of August and a further three responses had been received after the 
consultation ended. Of the nine responses two had not proposed any changes 
and seven had suggested alternative options or offered opinions as follows: 

DA – Greenhithe Polling District and DB – Knockhall Polling District 

Of the responses supporting change five related to the options for revised 
polling arrangements in the Greenhithe and Knockhall Polling Districts.  

One favoured having two polling locations in Greenhithe Polling District, a 
temporary polling station located at Eagles Road car park and re-designating 
the station at the British Legion Club, London Road to serve the residents of 
Ingress Park and Worcester Road. In respect of Knockhall Polling District it 
was suggested that this should cease to be served by the British Legion Club 
and that the polling station for this district should be moved to the Greenhithe 
Community Centre.    

The local MP had also responded and felt that additional provision was 
needed in the Greenhithe area to serve the Ingress Park development. He 
suggested locating a polling station in the new Community Centre in Ingress 
Park once this had been completed with a temporay station located on the 
green if elections took place beforehand. 

The Town Clerk of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council also 
submitted a list of current halls/community facilities in Greenhithe and 
Knockhall which included the British Legion Club and Greenhithe Community 
Centre and potential locations once development work had been completed. 
However the Town Council did not express any preferred location or submit 

Agenda Item 3Page 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2011 
 
 

4 

any direct request for change other than its “support for the need to make 
voting means available to residents as easy as possible and where halls are 
not possible mobile stations should be available”. 

Two submissions in relation to these polling districts had been received after 
the end of the consultation period. One, from a Councillor, supported locating 
a temporary polling station at Ingress Park and opposed using Greenhithe 
Community Centre on the grounds that it was difficult to find. The other 
suggested that the polling place for Knockhall should be sited at Knockhall 
Community School. 

IB – Southfleet West Polling District 

The Parish Clerk of Southfleet Parish Council responded to the on-line 
consultation exercise recommending a change of location from the current 
location, a mobile unit in a layby outside the former Colyers Arms Public 
House, Station Road, Betsham. It was suggested that although the location is 
currently suitable this may not continue to be the case once redevelopment of 
the former public house car park for housing had been completed. An 
alternative location for a mobile unit in the amenity area opposite Betsham 
House was proposed. 

GB – Summerhouse Polling District 

In his submission the local MP commented that “further provision is also 
needed in the Joydens Wood area” but did not suggest alternative options. 

LC – St John’s Polling District 

A late submission was received from the Brent Primary School, St John’s 
Road. This proposed using the school’s family room as a polling station rather 
than its canteen which would cause less disruption to after school activities 
and lunchtime meal arrangements. 

THE RETURNING OFFICER’S COMMENTS ON THE CONSULTATIO N 
RESPONSES 

The Returning Officer had reviewed the options previously identified by the 
Sub-committee and the representations received during the consultation 
process, including the late submissions and had made the following 
observations: 

DA – Greenhithe Polling District 

 The Returning Officer considered the options suggested for the polling district 
and did not see a viable alternative to retaining the mobile unit at the Eagles 
Road Car Park. However the need to provide for growth in Ingress Park in the 
future was recognised. It was felt that his could be achieved by locating a 
double polling station at the British Legion Club on London Road as this was 
on the boundary of the two existing polling districts. One would serve 
Greenhithe and the other Knockhall. The British Legion Club was large 
enough to accommodate a double station but care would be needed to ensure 
that voters were directed to the correct polling station. The alternative of siting 

Agenda Item 3 Page 4



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2011 
 
 

5 

an additional mobile unit along the river walkway, possibly at the end of 
Portland Place on the river frontage, would require permission by the 
landowner which might or might not be forthcoming but was not considered to 
be as suitable as the British Legion building. 

 The Returning Officer felt that if Members wished to make additional provision 
for Ingress Park then this could be achieved by retaining the existing mobile 
unit at Eagles Road car park and having an additional polling station at the 
British Legion Club, London Road to serve Greenhithe.  This would involve 
splitting the current polling district into two new districts divided along The 
Avenue; DA – Greenhithe (mobile unit ,Eagles Road car park) and DB – 
Ingress Park (British Legion Club, London Road)  

 DB- Knockhall Polling District 

 The Returning Officer considered the suggestion that the polling place for this 
polling district should be moved to Greenhithe Community Centre. This had 
the advantage of being more central and Officers had visited the Community 
Centre and considered it to be a suitable building. However the Community 
Centre, located off Alexander Road, was felt to be difficult to locate. 

 A move to the Community Centre would have allowed the British Legion Club 
to remain as a single station, but serving Greenhithe Polling District, but it was 
felt that there could be considerable confusion for electors from Knockhall 
who were used to voting at the British Legion Club and would be unfamiliar 
with the Community Centre. In any event the management committee of the 
Community Centre had indicated that it did not wish the Centre to be used as 
a polling place as this would disrupt other activities. 

 The Returning Officer recommended that the existing arrangements were 
retained and that the polling place for Knockhall should remain at the British 
Legion Club, possibly as a double station shared with Ingress Park. 

GB – Summerhouse Polling District        

 The Returning Officer considered the suggestion that an additional mobile 
station should be located at Stonehill Woods Park. This was felt to be 
impracticable in view of the very poor access to this site and difficult to justify 
in terms of the electorate. Currently there were 172 electors residing at 
Stonehill Woods Park of whom 40% had a postal vote. In view of this the 
Returning Officer recommended no change to the existing arrangements with 
the polling district being served by a single polling station located at the 
Library, Summerhouse Drive. 

IB – Southfleet West Polling District 

 The Returning Officer considered the Parish Council’s alternative proposal to 
base a mobile unit in the amenity area opposite Betsham House. Alternative 
locations in this district were limited given the rural nature of the area. Officers 
had visited the proposed alternative location and considered it to be a suitable 
location with the advantage of being within sight of the previous polling place 
with which local residents were familiar. In addition future use of the current 

Agenda Item 3Page 5



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2011 
 
 

6 

polling place could be problematic as residential garages would open out into 
the layby. The Returning Officer therefore recommended that the polling place 
should be located on the amenity area opposite Betsham House as 
recommended by the Parish Council. 

LC – St. John’s Polling District 

The Returning Officer considered the late submission by the Brent Primary 
School as to the use of the family room instead of the canteen. Whilst 
understanding the School’s feelings the family room was considered to be 
unsuitable in terms of size and accessibility whilst the canteen was familiar to 
local electors and more suitable for use. It was therefore proposed that the 
School should be designated as the polling place which would allow sufficient 
flexibility to consider using an alternative room if a more suitable one could be 
identified.    

THE SUB-COMMITTEE’S CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS  TO 
THE GAC 

The Sub-committee felt that the Returning Officer’s recommendations in 
respect of Southfleet West, Summerhouse and St John’s polling districts were 
well reasoned and should be supported. However Members recognised that 
at St John’s there would be limited scope in terms of changing the room in 
which the polling station was located at the Brent Primary school because of 
the need to ensure disabled access.  

In relation to Knockhall polling district a Member felt that Knockhall 
Community School would have been a good choice for a polling place as it 
was easy to find and had been used in the past. However he recognised that 
this would involve some disruption to school activities. Members also 
recognised that the Community Centre would have been ideal if it was easier 
to locate and access. Some Members also expressed some reservations 
about having a double station at the British Legion Club as they felt that this 
could be confusing for voters. In terms of the options for Greenhithe a 
Member also considered that many residents of Ingress Park liked the current 
arrangement as they found the temporary polling station at Eagles Road 
convenient due to its proximity to the railway station. 

Councillor Kelly left the meeting whilst the options for polling provision in 
Ingress Park were discussed. 

A Member felt that it should be possible to locate a temporary polling station 
in Ingress Park but accepted the difficulties in terms of siting and providing 
power and amenities for polling station staff. Members felt that additional 
polling facilities would be needed at Ingress Park and that the ideal location 
would be the proposed new Community Centre when this had been built. 
There were also proposals for a new Community Hall to be built close to 
ASDA which could provide another option. Members felt however that it would 
not be right to change arrangements at this point in time and that it would be 
better to retain the existing arrangements pending the construction of the 

Agenda Item 3 Page 6



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY 12 SEPTEMBER 2011 
 
 

7 

buildings identified and to revisit arrangements at that time rather than 
changing arrangements in quick succession.   

RESOLVED: That the following be recommended for agreement by the 
General Assembly of the Council: 

(1) That the polling place for Southfleet West Polling District be located 
on the amenity area opposite Betsham House; 

(2) That the polling place for St. John’s Polling District be located at the 
Brent Primary School; and 

(3) That all other polling places be located in accordance with the 
existing arrangements for Polling Districts and Polling Places. 

  

 

   

   

  
 
    
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.40 pm 
 
  

 
 

Councillor A Wells 
CHAIRMAN 

Agenda Item 3Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
 20 November 2013  

 

REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2013  
 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To report the outcome of the light touch annual review of Polling Districts and 

Polling Places. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1  That the Sub-committee notes the new requirement under the Electoral 

Registration and Administration Act 2013 to conduct full reviews of Polling 
Districts and Polling Places every 5 years. 

2.2    That the Sub-committee notes the outcome of the light touch annual review of 
Polling Districts and Polling Places 2013. 

2.3    That the Sub-committee notes the change of location of the Polling Station at 
the Brent Primary School from the Canteen to the Conference Room. 

2.4   That the Sub-committee recommends to the General Assembly of the Council 
that the polling place for Greenhithe Polling District should be the Dance 
Union Studio, Unit 1, North Star Boulevarde, Greenhithe for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 The Representation of the People Act 1983 places a duty on the 
Council to divide the borough into polling districts for the purposes of 
parliamentary elections and to designate a polling place for each 
district and to keep these arrangements under review.  

 
3.2 Under the provisions of Section 16 of the Electoral Administration Act 

2006, Council’s were required to undertake and complete a full review 
of all the polling districts and polling places in their area at least once 
every 4 years. The last full review in Dartford was carried out in 2011. 
No changes to any polling district were made as a result of that review 
although some minor changes to polling places were considered 
necessary due to building works and these were agreed by the General 
Assembly of the Council on 26 September 2011. 

 
3.3 Section 17 of the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 

has introduced a new duty on local authorities to “carry out and 
complete” reviews of polling districts and polling places within 16 
months of 1st October 2013 and then in the period of 16 months 
beginning with the 1st of October every 5th year thereafter and a full 
review will take place before January 2015. A full review involves 
considerable consultation with local organisations and the public 
according to a statutory process. 

 
3.4 Although a full review is only now required to be carried out every five 

years a review can be carried out at any time and it is the Council’s 

Agenda Item 5Page 9



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
 20 November 2013  

 

practice to undertake a light touch review annually to identify any 
changes that may be required. The outcome of the annual review for 
2013 is reported below. 
 

 
 

4. The Annual Review 2013 
 
4.1 The designation of polling districts and polling places is the 

responsibility of the local authority, however, the locations and 
provision of polling stations remains the responsibility of the Returning 
Officer. 

 
4.2 The difference between a polling district, a polling place and a polling 

station is outlined below: 
 
A polling district  is a geographical sub-division of an electoral area, 
i.e. a UK Parliamentary constituency, a European Parliamentary 
electoral region, a ward or an electoral division. 
 
A polling place  is a geographical area in which a polling station is 
located. 
 
However, as there is no legal definition of what a polling place is, the 
geographical area could be defined as tightly as a particular building or 
as widely as the entire polling district. In Dartford the polling places are 
currently quite narrowly defined and any changes outside of these 
parameters, however minor, require the approval of the General 
Assembly of the Council.  

 
A polling station  is the actual area where the process of voting takes 
place, and must be located within the polling place designated for the 
particular polling district. 
 

4.3 Given that a full review was carried out two years ago, which involved 
widespread public consultation, the focus this year has been on 
whether any changes are required. There have been no major 
developments or demographic changes which have impacted on the 
designated polling districts or polling places and all of the Borough’s 
polling stations currently service less than the 2,500 electors 
recommended as the maximum figure by the Electoral Commission 
(taking postal votes into account). 

 
4.4 Wherever possible the designated polling places are locations which 

have suitable buildings available for use as polling stations, ideally 
public or community use buildings. However where this is not the case, 
temporary portacabin units are used. Whilst these are far from ideal 
they represent a practical solution to the need to provide a polling 
station at a suitable location in each polling district.  

 
4.5 Since the last light touch review was carried out in 2012 there have 

been two Borough Council by-elections and two major elections, the 

Agenda Item 5 Page 10



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
 20 November 2013  

 

Police and Crime Commissioner elections in November 2012 and the 
Kent County Council elections in 2013. This represents considerable 
electoral activity and opportunity to see how well the existing polling 
districts and polling places have served the Borough. Electoral 
arrangements are reviewed by the Returning Officer following major 
elections, including consideration of the suitability of the polling places 
used. Following each election the views of polling station staff on the 
suitability of polling places and the buildings used are also collected to 
identify any issues or opportunities for improvement. 

 
4.6 With the agreement of the GAC temporary changes to two of the 

polling station locations were made for the November elections due to 
major gas works at Steele Avenue and the unavailability of the Church 
Centre, Swanscombe Street. Mobile units were located at the nearby 
King Edward Road car park, the same location as used for the Castle 
by-election on 27 September 2012, and at St Pauls Close, just off 
Swanscombe Street. These temporary arrangements worked well but 
for the  KCC elections the stations reverted to their usual locations 
agreed following the last full review of polling districts and polling 
places in 2011. 

 
4.7 Feedback from polling station staff has indicated that all of the polling 

places used have been suitable for use although there were comments 
about low temperatures in the temporary stations, mainly associated 
with the unusual timing of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
elections. The Council tries to keep the use of temporary polling 
stations to a minimum on the grounds of cost, working conditions and 
possible inconvenience to local people. However where there are no 
suitable buildings in a polling district temporary stations are the only 
practical solution.     

 
4.8 Due to the semi-rural nature of the Borough the Council uses 9 

temporary polling stations, a relatively high number, where suitable 
buildings have not been found in a polling district. Generally these have 
been accepted by local residents without complaint and the 
portacabins are in place for no more than a week at each election to 
minimise disruption and inconvenience. Before the Police and Crime 
Commissioner  elections last November Kent Highways objected to the 
siting of the portacabin at the corner of Nuthatch and Shearwater (New 
Barn West (IC) Polling District) on the grounds of highway safety and 
the portacabin was re-sited approximately 20 feet to the right of its 
original location further along Nuthatch. This siting was used again 
during the KCC election. This resulted in complaints from three 
neighbouring properties at both elections and one resident wrote to 
suggest an alternative location, the junction of Pescot Avenue and New 
Barn Road. This location is just inside the boundary for the polling 
district whereas the existing location is in the centre of the district. 
Appendix A shows the two locations. Officers have visited the 
proposed site and also toured the polling district to see whether there 
are any alternative sites where a polling station could be located.  The 
junction of Pescot Avenue and New Barn Road is not a suitable 
location for a temporary polling station as the grass verge on the 

Agenda Item 5Page 11



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
 20 November 2013  

 

junction has a heavy camber, New Barn Road is a busy road with 
limited parking, no direct power supply and problems for disabled 
access. No other suitable alternative locations have been identified in 
the polling district and it is recommended that the existing location 
continues to be used.  

 
4.9 Officers have identified a permanent building in the Greenhithe Polling 

District (DA) which is suitable for use as a polling station and which 
could replace the use of a temporary polling station currently located at 
the Eagles Road car park. The premises are the Dance Union Studio, 
at Unit 1, North Star Boulevarde, Greenhithe. As can be seen in 
Appendix B the proposed new location is a short distance from the 
Eagle Road car park and well within the polling district. It would provide 
better accommodation, has better disabled access and is considerably 
cheaper than the price of hiring a temporary polling station at Eagles 
Road. It is recommended that the polling place be re-located to the 
Dance Union Studio for future elections. 

 
4.10 The canteen at the Brent Primary School has been used as the polling 

station for St John’s Polling District (LC) in past elections. The school 
has raised concerns about the current location which causes disruption 
to pre and post school activities whenever there is an election. 
Alternative rooms have been considered and with a view to this the 
school was designated as the polling place which enables the 
Returning Officer to stipulate where the polling station will be located 
within the school premises. The school has recently refurbished its 
Conference Room and has suggested that this should be used as the 
polling station. Officers have visited the proposed location which has 
better facilities, is readily accessible and would be less disruptive to the 
school’s routine. However the new location is at the other end of the 
school to the canteen and is approximately 200 yards away from the 
Brent Old Boys Social Club which is used as a double polling station 
for Milestone (JA) and St Vincent’s East (JD) polling districts which 
could potentially confuse some voters. Appendix C shows the location 
of the current polling station, the proposed new location, and the 
proximity of the Brent Old Boys Social Club. The Returning Officer has 
considered the proposed change and has decided that, unless 
Members have strong views to the contrary, the Conference Room 
offers significant advantages and should be used as the polling station 
for future elections.    

  
5. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

The Sub-committee is requested to note the outcome of the light touch 
review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2013 and the change to 
the location of the polling station at the Brent Primary School from the 
canteen to the Conference Room. Members are asked to recommend 
to the General Assembly of the Council that the polling place for 
Greenhithe Polling District should be changed to the Dance Union 
Studio for the reasons outlined above. 
 
      

Agenda Item 5 Page 12



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
 20 November 2013  

 

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Not applicable. 

 
7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications There will be a saving of around £2,000 arising 
from the change of polling location in 
Greenhithe Polling District 

Legal Implications None. 
Staffing Implications None.  

 
Administrative 
Implications 

None. 

Risk Assessment The use of temporary units is less desirable in 
most cases than using a permanent facility but 
is an accepted alternative in the absence of 
other suitable options. The changes outlined in 
the report and the use of one less temporary 
polling station will benefit both staff and voters. 

  
8. Appendices 
  
 Appendix A – map of New Barn West Polling District 
 Appendix B – map of Greenhithe Polling District 
 Appendix C – map of St John’s Polling District 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
Review of Polling Districts and 
Polling Places Reports to the 
Sub-committee in August and 
September 2011 

 A Twyman 
(01322) 343430 

Member 
Services / 
Improvement 
and Efficiency 

N/A 

 

Agenda Item 5Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Southfleet East

New Barn West

Longfield Village

New Barn East

Longfield Hill

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Legal_Services\Electoral_Registration\Review_Polling_Places_2013\01_Project_Files\Appendix_A_IC_A4_Port_20131007.mxd

Map Produced By: tclark On: 07/10/2013 09:34 AM

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey

map with the permission of the Controller

of Her Majestys Stationery Office

© Crown Copyright 2013

Unauthorised reproduction

Infringes Crown Copyright and

May lead to prosecution or civil

Proceedings

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2013

©
D
a
rt
fo
rd
B
o
ro
u
g
h
C
o
u
n
c
il
1
0
0
0
2
5
8
7
0
2
0
1
3
,
M
a
p
P
ro
d
u
c
e
d
B
y
T
h
e
P
ro
p
e
rt
y
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
T
e
a
m
,

0 125 250 375 50062.5
Meters

Currentl Location

(Junction of Shearwater

and Nuthatch)

Rejected Location

(Junction of Pescot Avenue

and New Barn Road)

Appendix AAgenda Item 5Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



Greenhithe

Knockhall

Craylands

Castle

Stone Village

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Legal_Services\Electoral_Registration\Review_Polling_Places_2013\01_Project_Files\Appendix_B_DA_A4_Port_20131007.mxd

Map Produced By: tclark On: 07/10/2013 09:39 AM

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey

map with the permission of the Controller

of Her Majestys Stationery Office

© Crown Copyright 2013

Unauthorised reproduction

Infringes Crown Copyright and

May lead to prosecution or civil

Proceedings

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2013

©
D
a
rt
fo
rd
B
o
ro
u
g
h
C
o
u
n
c
il
1
0
0
0
2
5
8
7
0
2
0
1
3
,
M
a
p
P
ro
d
u
c
e
d
B
y
T
h
e
P
ro
p
e
rt
y
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
T
e
a
m
,

0 125 250 375 50062.5
Meters

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
L
o
c
a
ti
o
n

(E
a
g
le
s
R
o
a
d
C
a
r
P
a
rk
)

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
L
o
c
a
ti
o
n

(D
a
n
c
e
U
n
io
n
S
tu
d
io
)

Appendix BAgenda Item 5Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



St. John's

Milestone

Stone Village

Fleet Estate

Horns Cross

Darenth Park

St. Vincent East

Fleet Downs
X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Legal_Services\Electoral_Registration\Review_Polling_Places_2013\01_Project_Files\Appendix_C_LC_A4_Port_20131007.mxd

Map Produced By: tclark On: 07/10/2013 09:30 AM

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey

map with the permission of the Controller

of Her Majestys Stationery Office

© Crown Copyright 2013

Unauthorised reproduction

Infringes Crown Copyright and

May lead to prosecution or civil

Proceedings

Dartford Borough Council 100025870 2013

©
D
a
rt
fo
rd
B
o
ro
u
g
h
C
o
u
n
c
il
1
0
0
0
2
5
8
7
0
2
0
1
3
,
M
a
p
P
ro
d
u
c
e
d
B
y
T
h
e
P
ro
p
e
rt
y
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
T
e
a
m
,

0 125 250 375 50062.5
Meters

Currentl Location

(School Canteen)

Proposed Location

(Confrence Room)

Brent School Old

Boys Social Club

Appendix CAgenda Item 5Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
  20 November 2013  

INDIVIDUAL ELECTORAL REGISTRATION  
 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To brief the Sub-committee on the background to the introduction of Individual 

Electoral Registration and the implications for the Council of having a new 
system for electoral registration. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1  That the Sub-committee notes the report. 

2.2    That a briefing note should be circulated to all Members of the Council for 
information.  

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1 The Government is making significant changes to the way that people 
can register to vote from 2015. Currently people are added to the 
electoral register through an annual canvass process which normally 
takes place between August and November each year through which 
each property in the Borough receives a household canvass form 
seeking details of eligible electors resident. This is completed by one 
person on behalf of the household. The new Annual Register of 
Electors is normally published on 1st December each year. People are 
added to or deleted from the Annual Register throughout the rest of the 
year through a process of monthly rolling registration whereby they 
complete and submit a registration form and the changes are made by 
the publication of notices of alteration each month.    

 
3.2 Under the Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 this 

process will change. In future every elector will be required to register 
individually and their details will be checked against information held by 
the Department of Works and Pensions. New applicants will also have 
to provide details of their name, date of birth and their National 
Insurance number. The drivers behind the change are the 
Government’s wish to ensure that the electoral register is as complete 
as possible, currently it is believed that there are some 6 million eligible 
individuals in the UK who are not registered to vote, and the 
determination to minimise the scope for fraud. Whilst the electoral 
register is primarily used for electoral purposes it is also used for other 
things as well, including by credit reference agencies when determining 
a person’s credit worthiness, so it is important to ensure that the details 
are accurate and genuine. 

 
3.3 This is the most fundamental change in the process of electoral 

registration in decades and is a major change programme for electoral 
services. Preparation work is already under way and gaining speed 
and 2014 and 2015 will be years of transition. Although there will be a 
national campaign to raise awareness of the changes it is likely that 
there will be considerable confusion and possibly some reluctance to 

Agenda Item 6Page 21



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
  20 November 2013  

accept the changes from the public and it is important for Members to 
have a grasp of what is happening in case they are approached by 
constituents.   

 
4. Individual Electoral Registration (IER) – The Major Changes 

 
4.1   From mid-2014 onwards electors will be required to register to vote 

individually rather than as at present whereby one person fills in an 
annual canvass form on behalf of the rest of the residents of the 
household. In order to register to vote an individual will have to provide 
their name, address, date of birth and National Insurance number 

 
4.2 All applications to register individually will undergo a process of data 

matching against information held on DWP’s Customer Information 
System database to verify applications. 

 
4.3 To ensure that the process of transition is as painless as possible for 

most people the Government has decided that where people are 
registered on the electoral register prior to the move to IER and their 
data matches information held by DWP they will automatically be 
transferred to the new transitional register and will not have to take any 
further action. This process, known as the “confirmation live run”, will 
take place in June/July 2014 and will involve the Council submitting the 
data on the electoral roll, around 72,200 records, to be matched 
against DWP records. In order to ensure that as many people are 
“confirmed” as possible the Government decided to delay the annual 
canvass in 2013. This began on 1st October 2013 with the new 
electoral register due to be published on 17 February 2014 (rather than 
on 1 December 2013). This should ensure that the register used to 
confirm entries for the transitional period is as up to date as possible. 

 
4.4 After 8 June 2014 all new applications for registration must be by way 

of an individual application and anyone with a postal or proxy vote must 
have registered individually in order to retain their absent vote. 
Everyone on the register who has not been confirmed as a result of the 
confirmation live run will be contacted and invited to make an individual 
application to register and properties where the Registration Officer 
believes there may be eligible people will be sent a Household Enquiry 
Form. Non-respondents will receive further invitations to register 
including a visit by a canvasser.    

 
4.5 Nobody who is registered on the Register of Electors published in 

December 2014, but who has not been registered under IER, will be 
removed until the following year – this is to ensure that all electors 
registered under the old system are able to vote in the General Election 
in May 2015. 

 
4.6 The new Register published on 1 December 2015 will only consist of 

registrations made under IER, either by way of confrmation or by new 
application. Anyone who has not done so will be removed from the 
register and new registrations will continue to be made under the new 
system.  

 

Agenda Item 6 Page 22



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
  20 November 2013  

4.7 There will continue to  be an annual canvass each year with the 
publication of the Register  of Electors each December and rolling 
individual electoral registration. 

  
4.8 Once registered, individuals will only need to confirm that their existing 

details have not changed. This will be done as part of the annual 
household canvass. 

 
4.9 A modernised electoral registration system based on IT will be 

introduced making it easier for people to register to vote, opening up 
the possibility of on-line applications via a local authority’s web site. 

 
4.10 There will be a civil penalty for not registering individually (after many 

reminders) and the existing criminal penalty for not returning the 
household canvass form will remain. 

 
 
5. The Timing and Transition to Individual Electoral Registration 
 
 
2013 
 
5.1  From the point of view of the elector there will be no change until 

summer 2014 when the transition to the new IER system begins and to 
all intents and purposes the current system will continue to operate 
throughout 2013. However 2013 has been a year of intense activity 
and preparation for electoral and IT services. This has included 
beginning training electoral staff, redesigning electoral management 
systems and testing IT systems. 

 
5.2 From the start of 2013 the Cabinet Office, which is overseeing the 

move to IER, has required authorities to prepare detailed project plans 
and risk registers underpinned by a programme of monthly reporting 
via a dedicated on-line portal. 

 
5.3 To ensure that all 387  local authorities in England and Wales are 

prepared for the introduction of IER and that their IT and electoral 
management systems can “converse” with the DWP systems the 
Cabinet Office carried out a “confirmation dry run” process in July. This 
is an identical process to the “confirmation live run” in 2014. Dartford 
submitted the records held on the electoral register on 19 July and 
received the match report a few days later. This showed that 81% of 
the entries in the current register matched the data held by DWP and 
would have been automatically confirmed, a very high match rate. 
However it also showed that 1,008 entries had only matched partially 
and 12,734 had not matched.  

 
5.4 As part of the dry run test the Cabinet Office gave authorities the 

opportunity to examine why the unconfirmed entries had not matched 
and whether it would be possible to confirm them by matching with 
information from other databases held by the Council. From this local 
data matching it proved possible to match 5,576 of the unconfirmed 
records against local data and identified that in over 2,000 cases the 

Agenda Item 6Page 23



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
  20 November 2013  

address information held by DWP was incorrect. Based on this 
information it is hoped that the match rate will be higher in 2014. 8,166 
records could not be confirmed by data matching. 

 
5.5 Once all of the confirmation dry runs have been completed nationally 

and assessed the Minister will publish an assessment by the end of 
December of the preparedness of local authorities to proceed with IER. 
If considered ready the Minister will then sign the necessary 
commencement orders. 

 
5.6 In order to ensure that the 2013 Register is as accurate as possible 

before the transition phase the Government has postponed the annual 
canvass (from late August) until October. This will prove more 
challenging to canvassers who may be doorknocking in bad weather in 
the dark.  

 
2014 
 
5.7  The publication of the Annual Register of Electors, postponed from 1st 

December 2013, will take place on 17 February 2014.  
 
5.8 At the same time as completing the annual canvass and continuing 

preparations for the move to IER, arrangements will be made for the 
European Parliamentary election which will take place on 22 May 2014. 
The first phases of the full review of Polling Places and Polling Districts 
will also be underway and will continue throughout 2014, so this will 
again be a period of intense activity for Electoral Services.  

 
5.9 The transition to IER begins from June/July. From 8 June onwards all 

new applications to register will have to be made individually using the 
new system. The transition will begin with the confirmation of as many 
electors as possible from the existing register of electors by comparing 
them with the data held on the DWP database. It is anticipated that the 
match rate for the “live run” will be slightly higher than the 81% 
achieved during the confirmation “dry run “ in July 2013 as a result of 
there being greater awareness of IER and intensive canvassing. These 
confirmed electors and any electors confirmed by local data matching 
will be moved across automatically to the new register and will not 
have to do anything to stay on the register. The remaining electors, 
where there has been a partial, bad or no match will be contacted in 
writing and invited to register.  

 
5.10 Households where it is uncertain if anyone is resident will be sent a 

Household Enquiry Form requesting information on all the individuals 
living at an address who may be entitled to vote. These will then be 
followed up by the completion of individual registration forms. In order 
to ensure that the register is as complete as possible there will be 
requirements to follow up non-registrants including at least two forms 
being sent and door knocking before anyone is removed from the 
register. Nobody who is on the Register at the end of the 2013/14 
annual canvass will be removed until after the 2015 General election. 

 

Agenda Item 6 Page 24



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
  20 November 2013  

5.11 The Register of Electors published on 1 December 2014 will therefore 
be a hybrid containing the names of all voters who have been 
confirmed and transferred across, those who have applied to register 
individually since June 2014, and those existing registrations which 
haven’t confirmed or re-registered. However any elector who has 
previously had a proxy or postal vote must be registered under the new 
IER arrangements – either through being confirmed and carried 
forward as a result of data matching, or by applying under IER in order 
to receive for a postal/proxy vote. Anyone who has not done so will 
lose their entitlement and will only be able to vote in person at the 
polling station. 

 
2015 
 
5.12 The period between the publication of the transitional register on 1 

December 2014 and the General Election in May 2015 will be used to 
encourage those people missing from the register to apply. 

 
5.13 After the General Election a full household canvass will take place in 

autumn 2015. Each household will be sent a Household Enquiry Form 
however where an elector has been confirmed or registered under IER 
they will only have to confirm each year that their details have not 
changed, rather than applying for inclusion in the register. New 
registrations will be made individually. 

 
5.14 For the publication of the December 2015 register any voters who have 

not been confirmed or registered under IER will be removed from the 
register. All future registrations must be made individually. 

 
6. Paying for Individual Electoral Registration 
 
6.1 The Government has recognised that the introduction of IER involves 

major change and involves significant additional costs. The Cabinet 
Office and the Electoral Commission are committed to working closely 
with Electoral Registration Officers to deliver this. £108m has been 
allocated nationally to deliver this over the life of the project and each 
authority will be allocated funding via s31 Local Government Act 2003 
grants according to a formula based on size of electorate and data 
matching rates from the confirmation dry run.  

 
6.2 Most funding will be provided up front but certain aspects will be 

funded retrospectively by way of justification based top-up grants. S151 
officers will be required to sign a declaration effectively guaranteeing 
that any s31 funding, which is not ring fenced, will not be diverted to 
support other council activities. 

 
6.3 The Council received £6,300 to fund the preparations for IER during 

the 2013/2014 financial year, mainly to fund additional costs associated 
with carrying out the confirmation dry run and the training of core staff 
in IER..  Given the connection between match rates from the 
confirmation dry run and the allocation of funds the high match rate of 
81%, which was consistent with the rates achieved by neighbouring 
authorities, was not helpful. The Council has recently been informed by 

Agenda Item 6Page 25



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
  20 November 2013  

the Cabinet Office that it will receive £35,453 to meet the additional 
costs of introducing IER  in 2014/15. This is based on a complex and 
unproven formula devised by the Cabinet Office and it remains to be 
seen if this will indeed meet the full additional costs. Whilst 
approximately 40% of the unconfirmed entries can be resolved by local 
data matching against databases held by the Council this will still leave 
around 8,000 entries which will have to be followed up manually and 
this will be a labour intensive process. It is anticipated that staffing 
within Electoral Services will have to be bolstered throughout this 
period. 

 
6.4 There will also be a requirement to send out many more letters under 

the new arrangements than under the current system. Household 
Enquiry Forms and Invitation to Register Forms will be sent out to 
people not confirmed from the old register, any non-respondents will be 
sent 2nd and 3rd reminders and be chased by a door knocker and 
receive a warning letter or letter charging a civil penalty. In addition all 
those entries that have been confirmed, hopefully around 60,000 
people, will be sent confirmatory letters and any new applicants who 
successfully register will also be sent confirmatory letters. Each time a 
letter or reminder is sent out asking for a response a pre-paid response 
envelope must be sent as well. The cost of stationary and postage will 
therefore be much higher than provided for in existing budgets as well 
as staffing costs.     

 
  
7. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
7.1 The introduction of Individual Electoral Registration nationally is the 

biggest change management project for electoral services for the last 
100 years and will change the way that people register to vote 
fundamentally. The Government is keen for this process to be 
complete by the end of 2015 which is a challenging timescale and 
preparations began even before the legislation had been enacted and 
before guidance has been issued. The Cabinet Office and the Electoral 
Commission only issued detailed guidance at the start of October and 
there is a feeling that some issues are only just being identified and 
some of the rules are being made up as the project progresses. 

 
7.2 There are therefore still many uncertainties but it is clear that there is a 

massive amount of work involved in making the change and large costs 
as well. There is likely to be confusion among the public as to why 
things are being changed and possibly suspicion about data matching 
and a reluctance to supply personal data such as date of birth and 
national insurance numbers. This is especially likely during future 
household canvasses where canvassers could be seeking this 
information on the doorstep. Nor will the extra costs concerned come to 
an end after 2015 as the requirement to apply the same rules to rolling 
registration regarding the follow up of non-respondents as during the 
original phase will mean that door knocking will be carried all year 
round, which is not currently the case.    

Agenda Item 6 Page 26



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
  20 November 2013  

7.3 The Electoral Commission will support key stages of the project with a 
national publicity campaign. This will not seek to explain IER but 
emphasise what voters will need to do in order to be registered to vote.     

 
 
8. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 A Council performing strongly. 

 
9. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications As detailed in the report there are likely to be 
significant additional costs involved in 
implementing IER as it is anticipated that extra 
staff will be needed during the introductory 
phase and that stationery and postage budgets 
will be much higher. Despite the Government’s 
undertaking to fully fund the additional costs 
over and beyond the costs of normal “business 
as usual” registration services it is entirely 
possible that the allocated up-front funding will 
not cover the full costs of implementation. 

Legal Implications The Council must comply with the 
requirements of the Electoral Registration and 
Administration Act 2013. 

Staffing Implications Additional staff are likely to be required in 2014 
and beyond in the Electoral services Team.  

Administrative 
Implications 

There will be a significant increase in the 
processing of applications for registration and 
the requirements to pursue non-responders. 

Risk Assessment The introduction of IER is new territory  for all 
Electoral Administrators and is being 
introduced at a time when there are other 
significant events taking place in the electoral 
calendar. However plans and resources are in 
place and the risk is being managed.   

  
8. Appendices 
 None 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
Report to Management Team – 
February 2013 
 
Confirmation Dry Run reports to 
the Cabinet Office – August 
2013 
Cabinet Office letter “IER: 
2014/15 Indicative Funding 
Allocation” received on 
29/10/2013 

 A Twyman 
(01322) 343430 

Member 
Services / 
Improvement 
and Efficiency 

N/A 

Agenda Item 6Page 27



Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee  
  20 November 2013  

 

Agenda Item 6 Page 28


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 September 2011
	5 Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2013
	Appendix_A_IC_A4_Port_20131007
	Appendix_B_DA_A4_Port_20131007
	Appendix_C_LC_A4_Port_20131007

	6 Individual Electoral Registration

